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THE FOUNDING OF FORT VICTORIA.

AUTHOR'S NoTE—A special word of thanks is due Mr.
J. Chadwick Brooks, Secretary to the Governor and Committee
of the Hudson's Bay Company, who not only granted permis-
sion to print the excerpts from documents in the Company's
Archives that are included in this article, but also contrived,
in spite of war-time difficulties, to have several of these copied
from the originals expressly for the use of the writer. '

1.

The founding of Fort Victoria in 1843 marked the climax of
a controversy—one might almost say a series of controversies— 7
that had lasted for nearly twenty years. The point at issue was _
the best location for the principal depot of the Hudson’s Bay
Company on the Pacific Goast. Chief I'actor Jonn McLoughlin,
who was placed in charge of the Company’s operations west of
the Rocky Mountaing in 1824-25, early became a staunch sup-
porter of the claims of Trort Vaneouver, on the Columbia River.
Governor Simpson, who travelled westward with MeLoughlin,
felt from the first that the main depot should be farther north.
As the years slipped by, circumstances seemed to favour first one
point of view and then the other; but in the end the consensus
of opinion turned decisively against McLoughlin.
/ Two considerations remained paramount throughout the con-
troversy. First came the trading requirements of the Company.
In 1825 its activities were limited to a chain of posts in the
valley of the Columbia, and in the interior of what is now British
Columbia, all of which received their supplies and shipped their
furs by way of the Columbia River. The second consideration
was the boundary question. Until 1846 the whole area from
California to Alaska was in dispute between Great Britain and
the TUnited States. A joint-occupation agreement had been
arrived at in 1818 and this was renewed for an indefinite period
in 1827; but uncertainty about the boundary was nevertheless
a continual source of anxiety to the Hudzon's Bay Company.
Sooner or later the line would be determined; and it was most
desirable that the main depot should be located in territory which
would uitimately become British.
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. At first both considerations bolsterad MeLoughlin’s point of
view. When Fort Vancouver was completed, in 1825, no one
could deny that it was admirably situated to meet the trading
needs of the moment. At that time, moreover, informed cireles
were of opinion that the boundary-line would follow the Columbia
River; and with this in mind Fort Vancouver had been built
on the Columbhia’s north bank. The post was thus situated in
territory which it was presumed would become British. This
being so, MecLoughlin felt that it should become the main depot,
at least until such time as some change in conditions made it
unsuitable for the purpose.
But Governor Simpson was not convinced. For one thing,
he hoped that the Company would be able to develop an extensive

trade on the Northwest Coast, and Fort Vancouver would not be

a convenient depot for this purpose. For another, he felt that
it would be prudent to place the district headquarters at a greater
distance from the prospective boundary-line. All things con-
sidered, the mouth of the Fraser River seemed to him to be the
most promising location, particularly as he was confident that
the river itself would provide a travel route to the interior com-
parable to that furnished by the Columbia. By Simpson’s order
Fort Vancouver was therefore planned as an ordinary trading-
post, and built upon a site suitable only for this limited purpose.

Needless to say, when Simpson reached this decision he knew
nothing dhout the canyon of the Fraser. Simon Fraser had
descended the river in 1808, and had described in his journal
the narrow chasms and swirling waters that made it an impos-
sible route for the transport of supplies and furs; but little was
known about his experiences until a later date. A party sent
off by Simpson, late in 1824, had had time to explore only the
lower reaches of the river. In 1828, however, when travelling
westward on his second tour of inspection, Simpson himself in-
vestigated the canyon. A few months later he confessed to the
Governor and Committee in London that he would * consider the
passage down, to be certain Death, in nine attempts out of Ten.
The plan to establish a depot at the mouth of the Fraser was at

(1)} Rich, E. E. {ed.), The Letters of John MceLoughlin . . . First
Series, 1825-38, Torento and London, 1841, p. lix. (Simpson's 1829 Report,
Mareh, 1828.)
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once abandoned, and, to McLoughlin’s immense satisfaction,
Simpson agreed that Fort Vancouver should ‘beecome the head-
guarters of the district. The post was subsequently moved
nearer to the river, where shipments of freight and furs could
be handled more easily, and rebuilt upon a much larper scale.

At this point the depot controversy seemed to have ended;
but circumstances soon led to its revival. In the spring of 1829
the annual supply ship William and Anmn, inward bound from
London, was wrecked on the bar at the mouth of the Columbia
River. A year later the Isabello met a similar fate. The Gov-
ernor and Committee had long been aware of the existence of
the bar, but these events brought its dangers very foreibly to
their attention. Then in 1830 a fever epidemic broke out in the
lower valley of the Columbia, and in the course of two seasons
it decimated the Indian population. Deaths amongst the whites
were astonishingly few, but McLoughlin's men were laid up by
the score and the Company’s programme of expansion was
brought to a standstill. :

By the spring of 1834 the Governor and Committee had coine
to the conclusion that some change in the depot arrangements
was necessary. In March they wrote to Governor Simpson:—

The unhealthy state of [Fort] Vancouver for seversl years past, and the
distance at which it is situated from the Sea, render it by no means so well
ndapted for the sole depot of the West side of the Mountains, now that the
Trade is extended to the Coast: we therefore think it advisable that o
Depot should be situnted on the shores of Puget Sound, where there arve

o

many places highly favorable for a Seaside Depot . . .2
Simpson subsequently instructed McLoughlin to explore Puget
Sound and examine the various sites available. This McLonghlin
endeavoured to do in 1835, but sickness at Fort Vancouver forced
him to return before he had completed the survey. He reported
to London in September that he had visited Fort Nisqually and
the head of the Sound, but that neither place could offer one of
the essential requirements for a depot—an extensive tract of
land suitable for tillage.?

{2) Governor and Committee to Simpson, March 5, 1834. This and all
subsequent quotations from documents in the Archives of the Hudson's Bay
Company are printed by permission of the Governor and Committee.

{3) McLoughlin to the Governor and Committee, September 30, 1835.
Letters of John MeLoughlin, pp. 188-39.
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McLoughlin's report creossed a dispatch from the Governor
and Committee in which the latter dealt with the depot question
at some length. The topic was introduced as follows:—

We have again to draw your attention to the object of removing your
Principal Depot from the Columbia River te the Coast, say to Whidby’s
Island, Pugets Sound, or some other eligible situation, easy of access, as we
consider the danger of crossing the Columhbiz Bar too great a risk te he run
by the Annual Ships from and to England, with the Outfits and returns.s4
Doubtless with McLoughlin’s susceptibilities on the subject in
mind they hastened to add that “ Fort Vancouver must of course
always be kept up as a large establishment,” and that it “ must
always be maintained as a Depot” for the interior posts and
trapping expeditions. But McLoughlin knew full well that the
supremacy of Fort Vancouver was threatened; and in his reply
he entered a strong plea for permission to carry on as before,
basing his reguest upon a sincere conviction that the existing
arrangement was the most eccmomu:a] and efficient " that could
e made.b

His principal arguments were three in number, and to them
he clung tenaciously through the years that followed. In the
first place, as the Columbia River was admittedly still the only
practicable route to the interior, the supplies for and furs from
the numercus posts would have to continue to cross the Columbia
bar, regardless of where the principal depot was situated.

" Secondly, McLoughlin insisted that the bar itself was not nearly

as dangerous as it was reputed to be, and charged that the loss
of bhoth the Willinm and Ann and the Isabelle had been duoe to
the negligence of their captains. Finally, he pointed out that
a new depot ot Whidbey Island, or thereabouts, would prove
costly to the Company, sinee it could not talke the place of the
near-by posts at Fort Langley and Fort Nisqually, as the Gov-
ernor and Committee evidently supposed. Fort Langley -was
maintained largely because of the salmon trade, which could not
be transferred elsewhere, while it was certain_that the Indians
who frequented Fort Nisqually would Tot oo ingtead fo the

(4) Governor and Committee to McLoughlin, December 8, 1835. [bid,
p. 164.

{(8) McLoughlin to the Governor and Committee, November 15, 1836.
Ibid., p. 165,

(G) Ibid., pp. 165-56.
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In spite of his strong prejudice in favour of Fort Vancouver
it is only just to McLoughlin to say that he seized every oppor-
tunity to secure information about possible sites for a new depot.
In November, 1836, Chief Factor Duncan Finlayson, refurning
from Fort Simpson in the steamer Beawver, visited Port Town-
send, Port Discovery, and Whidbey Island, but could report
favourably on none of them.” In the light of later events it is
interesting to find that it was apparently McLoughlin himself
who first directed that the search should be extended to Vancou-
ver Island. On December 8, 1836, he wrote to Chief Trader John
Work, who was then in charge of Fort Simpson (—

The Captain of the steamer [Captain W. H. MeNeill] should alse be directed
to examine on his way to Nisqually next summer the south end of Van-
couver's Island for the purpose of selecting a convenient situation for an
Establishment on n large scale, possessing all the requisites for farming
rearing of Cattle together with a good harbour and abundance of timber,
in short containing every advant’tge which is desirable such a stthLlon
should furnish.B

In accordance with these instructions Captain McNeill, in the
Beaver, spent some days in the early summer of 1837 exploring
the southern end of Vancouver Island. It is clear that he was
favourably impressed, but McLoughlin devoted only a few lines
to the subject in his autumn dispatch to the Governor and Com-
mittee. He stated that McNeill had “ found an excellent har-
bour, of easy access with good anchorage, surrounded by a plain
of several miles in extent, of an excellent Soil”; but added
cautiously that it “ would require to be more particularly ex-
amined before we could rely on it.”® If MeNeill submitted a
written report it has been lost, and it is therefore fortunate that
James Douglas returned to the subject of this survey and dealt
with it at greater length in a letter to Governor Simpson. This
reads in part as follows:—

The survey strietly speaking commenced at Newittil® near the north end of
the Island and proceeded through Johnstones Straits and the Gulf of

(1) MecLoughlin to the Governor and Committee; November 18, 1836
(postseript to dispatch dated November 36). Jbid., p. 165.

(8) H.B.C. Archives, B.223/1/15, fo. 62,

(9) McLoughlin to the Governor and Committee, October 31, 1837.
Letters of Johm MeLoughlin, p. 214.-

(10) Meaning the region about the present Port Hardy. Fort Rupert
was built there by the Company in 184%.
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reia to Pt Gonzalo, . . .11 On reaching the South end of the Island,
lecided improvement was observed in the appearance of the Country.
ree good harbours of easy access, were found west of Point Gonzalo, at
, of which, Captain McNeill passed a few days. The land avound these
‘hours is covered with wood to the extent of half a mile, interiorly, where
forest is replaced by a more open and beautifully deversefied Country
senting a succession of plains with groves of Oaks and pine trees, for a
tance of 15 or 20 miles. The most Easterly of the harbours 10 miles
st of Point Gonzalo is said to be the best on the Coast nnd possesses the
bortant advantage, over the othér, of a more abundant supply of fresh
ter furnished by a stream 20 Yards wide, which afier contributing to
tilize the open Country, flows into it. The plains are said to be fertile
1 covered with luxuriant vegetation; but judging from a sample of soil
jght” here, I think it rather light and certainly not the best quality,
nitting even this disadvantage, I am persuaded that no part of this sterile
Rock bound Coast will be found better adapted for the site of the proposed
pot or to combine, in a higher degree, the desired requisites, of a secure
vhour aecessible to shipping at every senson, of good pasture, and, io a
tnin extent, of improvable tillage land.12

There is no doubt that the three harbours examined by Mc-
il]l were Victoria, Esquimalt, and Sooke; and of these it was
ctoria Harbour, the ¢ most Easterly ” of the three, that he and
uglas described with such approval.l? '

It is clear that the Governor and Committee intended that
a new depot should be built as soon as a satisfactory site for
had been found. Thus in February, 1837, they informed Gov-
nor Simpson that the post was to be named Fort Adelaide,*
honour of Queen Adelaide, consort of the reigning monarch,
illiam IV.—a step they would scarcely have taken if the build-
g of the post had not been in immediate prospect. Again, in
tober, 1838, Douglas remarked that he was awaiting—and by
is he obviously meant that he was expecting—“ instructions,

{11) The present Cadbore (Ten Mile) Point, not Point Gonzales.

{12) Douglas to Simpson, March 18, 1838. Letters of John MeLoughlin,
. 286-87.

(18) It is interesting to note that in a dispatch dated November 15, 1837,
jen they were still unaware of McNeill's survey, the Governor and Com-
ttee sugpested to Douglas that the southern end of Vancouver Island
onld be examined. (H.B.C. Archives, A.6/24.) When the report of
oNeill's explorations was received, they complimented him on finding so
omising a site. (Governor and Committee to Douglas, October 31, 1838;
B.C. Archives, A.G/25.)

(14) CGovernor and Committee to Simpson, February 15, 1837, (H.B.C,
rchiyfes, D.5/4.)
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with the necessary reinforcements of officers and men, to carry
into effect your wishes, with respect, to the pl:oposed estabhsh—‘
ment on Vancouvers Island.”® But by that time the Gove}'no1
and Committee had adopted a policy of dela.y. .Why they did so
we do not yet kmow; but it is possibly significant that John
MecLoughlin arrived in London in the autul.nn of 1838 to co'n.fer
with officials of the Company. MeLoughlin, whose opposﬂ:mri
to the construction of a new depot was .WE'.H Imown, may Weld
have asked that the final decision as to a site §hou}d be pos.tpone
until his return to the Pacific Coast; and in view of his long
service in the region it would be a difficult request to.refuge. _
‘Be that as it may, the fact remains that McPough’{m paid 111%
first and only visit to Vancouver Island almost immediately after
his return to Fort Vancouver, in the aui.;umn of }839. He \a::és
accompanied by John Work and Captain MeNeill. fI‘he 'pa;hy
proceeded first to Fort Nisqually and fljom there :salled mlJ e
Beaver Tor Fort Langley, where they arrived early in Decetﬁl er.
McLoughlin described their subsequent movements as follows,
in a report to Simpson:i— ,
1 left Fort Langley., On the 12th reached tl:xe
.plai!; cc))r:1 21;1.: lgt;l;tglnf;‘:c? ]?aefl]\fancouvers Igand which Ca})tain McbIItel‘ll
examined in 1837 and reported as o fine place for an Establishment. . b;z
a very fine harbour, aceessible at all Seasons, but it is nlc;t a place suita
to our purpose; on the 14th arrived at Nisqually . . -
Thus briefly did McLoughlin dismiss McNeil-l’s discovery, and the
possible site of a depot that might yival his beloved Fort' Val}-
couver. He made no further reference to the m.atte_r 1.11 hl.S
report to Simpson, and did not so mL}ﬂl as mention it in his
i s to the Governor and Committee. - '
dlsp:;c?f turned out, MecLoughlin's attitude had httle. 111ﬂ11ence
upon the course of events. Simpson was planning a third 1115};:(:-
tion trip to the Pacific Coast, and tht.a CGovernor and Comml ::{3
decided to place the whole matter in his hands: The same mog h
that McLoughlin vigited Vancouver Isl:m}d a dispatch left L?n 01%
instructing him not to make any decision as to the llocatmn 0

(15) Douglas to the Governor and Coramittes, October 18, 1B38. Lelfers

¢ John McLonghlin, p. 267, »
o (16) MecLoughlin to Simpson, March 20, 1840. (H.B.C. Archives,

B.223/b/26.)
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the new post until Simpson’s arrivall™—an order that had the

effect of postponing any further action until 1841.

In the interval, however, a new complication appeared on the

horizon. It had long been McLoughlin's ambition to build a
chain of trading-posts that would extend along the coast all the
way from Puget Sound to the far north. By 1834 he had com-
pleted Fort Nisqually, Fort Langley, Fort McLoughlin, and Fort
Simpson. At that time the Russian American Company con-
trolled Alaska; but the agreement arrived at between that Com-
pany and the Hudson’s Bay Company in 1839, while McLoughlin
was in London, made it possible for the latter to extend its
operations to Russian territory. In the summer of 1840 James
Douglas went to Alaska, and there took over Fort Stikine and
built Fort Talu.

As he returned southward, Douglas carefully considered the
Company’s trading requirements on the whole No*thwest Coast,
He concluded that one more post was needed—a fort that would
be frequented by the Indians dwelling in the region of Queen
Charlotte Sound and the northern half of Vancouver Island.
This area was then served by the Beaver and other trading
vessels, but Douglas felt that a fort would be both cheaper and
safer. On the question of its location he reported to MeLoughlin
as follows:—

The place which I eonsider, in all respects most suitable for this purpose,
is the neighbourhood of Neweeté, near the north end of Vancouver's Island,
where there are several good harbours accessible to Shipping at every

season, and which is almost directly in the centre of the Native Papui-
lation , . .18

McLoughlin, who infinitely preferred trading-posts to trading-
ships, and who regarded the steamer Beaver in particular as an
mnecessary and costly extravagance, welcomed this recommen-
dation and endorsed it heartily in his fall dispatch to the Gover-
nor and Committee.’® To complete the chain of forts on the
coast by building a post at the northern end of Vancouver Island

(17) Governor and Committee to MecLoughlin,  December 31, 1839.
(H.B.C. Archives, A.G/25.)

(18) Douglas to McLoughlin, Oectober 1,' 1840. (H.B.C. Avrchives,
B.223/b/28.)

(19) McLoughlin to the Governor and Committee, November 20, 1840,
(H.B.C. Archives, B.223/b/28.)
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to _him much more sensible than to build a new depot
}; was still convinced was unnecessary, at its Dthen:
was MecLoughlin's frame of mind when Governor Simp-
0 in January had become Sir George Simpson—arrived

Vancouver late in August, 1841. A few days later
left for the north with Douglas on a seven weeks’ tour
urse of which he visited every post on the coast excepé
igley.  Unfortunately the conclusions he reached regard-
cond:uct of the coastal trade were diametrically opposed
ugl.lhn’s policy, In November he wrote to the Governor
1mittee from Fort Vancouver:—

'aﬁ_del of the c?ast cannot with any hope of making it a profitable
t Cllfl the'mumtenance uf s0 many establishments as are now occu-
& pr otection, together with the shipping required for its transport
t appear to me that such is necessary . . 20 ’
1z to do, in Simpson’s opinion, was to abandon all the
rth of the Strait of Georgia except Fort Simpson, and
1 the trade with the Beaver, supplemented by sailing-

yughlin did not accept defeat without a struggle. He
1 facts and figures that proved, to his own satisfaction
that trading-ships—and in particular the Beaver—were
re expensive to acquire and maintain than trading-posts.
113:5',011 was adamant, and by the first months of 1842
hlin knew that he would receive instructions to abandon
ku and Fort McLoughlin in 1843, and Fort Stikine in

e depot question McLoughlin fared no better. At Fort
'e:E' Simpson had found Commodore Wilkes, commander
nited States Exploring Expedition that circled the globe
42, From Wilkes he learned that one of his sloops of
- U.8.8. Peacocl:, had been pounded to pieces on the bar
lumbia six weeks before. Even when it was not danger-
bar was frequently a serious inconvenience, as Simpson
found when he left Fort Vancouver for California in

Qiit;d from I, O. 8. Scholefield, British Columbinz, Vancouver,

rvequired, the most important of which are,
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December. On March 1, 1842, he wrote to the Governor and
Committee from Honolulu:—

A three weeks detention inside Cape Disappointment, watehing a favor-
able opportunity for crossing the very dangerous Bar off the entrance of
the Columbia river, recalled my attention very foreibly to the importance of
a depot being formed for such portion of the Company's business, as is more
immedintely connected with the Foreign Trade and Shipping department,
on some eligible part of the coast instead of continning Fort Vancouver as
the great centre of the business of the west side of the Continent, and
exposing many lives and the whole of the valuable imports and exports of
the Country to a danger which 1s becoming more alarming every suceessive
year.

In mensure as the natural resources and sources of commerce of the
Northern Pacific and its shores and interior country develope themselves,
in like measure does it become apparent that we cannat avail ourselves of
them advantageously, while entively dependent on Fort Vancouver as the
principal depot; as independent of the dangers of the Bar, the tinwe lost in
watching opportunities either to get out or in (frequently from a month {0
six weeks, while three weeks move are often consumed nfter crossing the
Bar, in getting from Gape Disappointment up to Fort Vancouver) renders

it impossible to ealeulato with any degree of certainty on the guantum’ of oty
work that ought to be performed by the Shipping, derangine the best laid . 1

plang, burdening the different branches of the business with very heavy
Shipping charges and depriving us of the ‘means of embarking in other
branches of Commeree, which might be enrried on with great advantage,
had we a depot eligibly situated on the Const.

Regarding the site for the new depot, Simpson had this to say:i—

The Southern end of Vaneouver's Isiund forming the Northern side of ~
the Straits of de Fuca, appenrs to me ihe best situntion for such an establish-
ment as requived. From the very superfieial examination that has been
made, it is aseertained there nve several rood harbours in that neighbour-

hood no place however has as et been found combining all the ndvantages
a_safe nnd necessible harbour,

well situated for defence, with Water power for Grist and_Saw Mills,

abundance of Timber for home conspmprt_:jpg___;}Jl__ij_.E;:;:pqg'j:gg‘_c_ion_,,:md‘,‘thc_f..,. '

* gdjdcent Country well adapted for tillage and pasture Tarms on an exten-

sive scale. I had net an opportunity of landing on Tive southern end of the
“Teland, biit from the distant view we had of it in passing between Puget’s
Sound and the Gulf of Georgin and the report of C F McLoughlin and
others who have been there, we have every renson to believe there will be
no difficulty in finding an eligible sitnation in that quarter for the establish-
ment in guestion.tt

He went on to point out that there was a good prospect that both
the salmon and whale fisheries would develop on a large scale

(21} Quoted from the transeript in the Provincial Archives.
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the region, and that a post on i ‘
Wel.l sitl_:lated to beneﬁlé from E}I:;}Sti;ac'll:.c’f Juan de Fuca would
It s evident, too, that political considerations weighed heavil
th Simpson when he was deciding the depot question Somy
1ty later he recalled that “ The first idea of forming a;1 est be
hment at the Southern end of Vancouver's Island was SE ]
sted by the danger that seemed to present itself from having ,
) Whole_ of. our valuable property warehoused at one depot ”2g2
e proximity of Fort Vancouver to the Willamette Valle ' in
ucl} the?e was already an American settlement of some g’ize
rried him, and both then and later he was apprehensive lesi;
] pgst should be attacked and plundered of its heavy stock of
oplies. Moreover, even as early as 1842 Simpson had com
th_e conclusion that, when the boundary was finally de’cerrnined‘3
] hnge WOLIIC.l follow the Strait of Juan de Fueca., The Americans'
was_convmced, would insist upon having a harbour on thé
rthwest Coast, and to grant this it would be necessary to giv
2 Pu_get Sound. Much as the British Government mig hi
rret this necessity, Simpson foresaw that it would yield for %he
ce of peace® In that event a post on the southern end of
L]lgggm\ie_g_zgl_z_u}q_ would be of the utmost strategic and political
llzﬂe 25131.’8%5511;511\37-0@(1 holster strongly the British p}gi@m"
MecLoughlin assighied to James Douglas the task of re-examin-
r Vancouvgr Island and of selecting a site for the ne*:v fort
nglas Cfi.rrled out the mission with characteristic thoroughnes ‘
d subm_ltted a detailed report, dated July 12, 1842. As th:
t of this report is readily available,® only the ,ﬁrst tI;ree para-

aphs, in which Douglas sunm ¥l i i
imarized his findin
oted here:— s, meed be

h?ccm:déng to your instrucf;.ions I embarked with & party of 6 men, in the
oner Cadboro, at Fort Nisqually and proceeded with her, o thf: South

(2..4:) SIn]IJSUn to Iw:ﬂLDu hhn dEH Blld Dou lﬂs .]l:l G 4
g 1 0 +
/ 3 E. 2 ne 1 ' 18 5.

{(23) Sec Simpson to the Governor i
(28] and Commit : ;i
ipt in the Provincial Archives. mittee, Mareh 1, 18427 tran-

(24) See, for example The Beave

exam 7, Outfit 273, March, 1943 4

.er.e the report is printed in foll, The map thnt, nccomp’anied 'DI;?J‘glas?sr
I.l.'Jl.t- was fcfrwm.‘de‘d to London by McLoughlin. The portion showing the
inity of Victoria is reproduced in the accompanying illustration

“
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end of ¥ Vancouvers Island,” visited the mast promising points of that coast,
and after a careful survey of its several Forts and harbours, I made choice
of @ site for the proposed new Establishment in the Port of Camosack
which appears to me decidedly the most advantageous situation, for the
purpose, within the Straits of De Fuesa.

‘As n harbour it is equally safe and secessible and abundance of timber
grows near it for home consumption and exportation. There being no
fresh water stream of gufficient power, flour or saw Mills may be erected
on the canal of Camosack, at a point where the channel is contracted to 2
breadth of 47 feet, by two narrow ridges of granite projecting from either
bailk, into the canal, through which the tide yushes out and in with a degree
of foree and velocity capable of driving the most powerful machinery, if
guided and applied by mechanical skill.

In the several important points just stated, the position of Camosack can
claim neo superiority over some other excellent harbours on the south coast
of Vancouvers Island, but the latter are, genernlly speaking, surrounded by
rocks and forests, which it will require ages to level and adapt extensively
to the purposes of agriculture, whereas at Camosack there is a range of
plains nearly 6 miles square containing 2 great extent of voluable tillage
and pasture land equally well adapted for the plongh or for feeding stoek.
Tt was this advantage and distinguishing feature of Camosack, which no
other part of the coast possesses, combined with the water privilege on the
canal, the security of the harbour and abundance of timber around it, which
led me to chase [choose] a site for the estsblishment at that place, in
preference to all others met with on the Island.

The * Port of Camosack” was, of course, the present Victoria
Harbour and Vietoria Arm, and the word Camoseck itself a
variant of the Indian name usually rendered in English as
Camosun. 1t is interesting to note that the determining factor
in favour of Camosack was i itahili T dture. Its
chief deficiency was the inadequate supply of fresh water, which
Douglas felt would “ probably be found scanty enough for the
Tstablishment in very dry seasons 2 The report con-
cludes t—
The situation is not fanltless or so completely spited to our purposes as it
might be, but I dispair of any better, heing found on this eoast, as L am
confident that there is no other sea port north of the Golumbina where so
many advantages will be found combined.28

Douglas was probably still on Vancouver Island when the
Council of the Northern Department assembled at Norway House,
perused Simpson's reports, and on June 28, 1842, passed the

following resolutions:—

-

(26) Ibid.,p.T.
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. That‘."in laccnrdance with the-23rd paragraph of Governor Sir George
5 ;?Lpsl,\?;indéspail:;lﬁlntnct‘ﬁl‘efGovern01' and Committes, dated Fort Vancouvﬁr
2 rember y Chief Factor McLoughlin take the neeessa

v : ry steps for
il}]jandnnmg the ‘ppst.s .of Fort McLoughlin and Takoo in Summerylﬂrj'.;]lj arc:rl]
he Posts of Stikine in Summer 1844; and fitting the * Beaver " Ste,nmer
to 5;:1].;11‘3 the tm_de usu‘ally colleeted at these abandoned. Establishments
e El;llg‘. eonsidered in many points of view expedient to form a depu.t at
foi qifcl‘if elI;l entdbuf \;ancouver’s Island, it is resolved that an eligible site

such a Depot be se ected, and that measures be adopt + formi i

Lstablishment with the least possible delay.28 opted for forming this

2.

Douglas can have had no conception of the important part
the new esgtahh_shment was to play in his own career, and it is
therefore intevesting to find that he returned from his visit to
V auc,c’:uver Island thoroughly enamoured of the * Port of Camo-
sack.” Writing to his friend James Hargrave in Februar
1843, he described it in glowing terms:— 7
The place itself appears a perfect “ Eden,” in the midst of the dreary wilde
ness of the Nerth west coast, and so different is its general aspect, from te}:—
woaded, rugged regions around, that one might be pardoned for sul e it
had dropped from the elouds into its present posi!;ioﬁ. . ppostne i
The grouth of indigenous vegetation is more luxuriant, than in any other
place, I have seen in Americn, indieating n rich proc]l.;ctive soil g‘hou }11
the survey I made was somewhat laborious, not being so light :.md ncti%.re
of foot as in my younger days, I was nevertheless delighted in ranging over
fields knee deep in clover, tall grasses and ferns reaching above oTn' Tleads
at these -L.mequivocal proofs of fertility, Nobt a musquitoe that plague f'
plapues did we feel, nor meet with molestation frrom the natives.?7 e

He informed Hargrave further that he was soon to leave for the
Northwest Coast to superintend the abandoning of Fort Taku
and Fort McLoughlin, and the construction of the new post |

B Douglas left Fort Vancouver on March 1, with a pari;y of
fifteen men, and on the 9th arrived at Fort Nisgually, at the
southern end of Puget Sound. The next day he wrote a'private
letter to Simpson, in- which may be seen the last flicker of the

) {26) Formal authority to abandon the posts and build the new fort on
‘Vnnco}wgr- Island was given to MeLoughlin by the Governor and Committee
in o dispateh dated December 21, 1842, This probably venched Fort Van-
couver by the supply ship Diamond, which arrived on June 30, 1843; but b
that time, as we shall see, work on the new post had already c,omme,m:ed. Y
Tm-f;i’z(),, fég;'ps,ezlgd_gﬁl_uwhl.wk (.ed.), The Hoargrave Correspondence,

S

1943 - FOUNDING OF FORT VICTORIA. 85

depot controversy. Despite Simpson’s known opinions and in- -
structions, McLoughlin still felt that a small fort was all that
was required; and it is evident that it was upon his own respon-
sibility that Douglas ordered the building of a larger post. To
Simpson Douglas wrote:(—

I am at a loss on what scale to build the new Establishment, I thought it
was desipned to serve as a general Depot for our Pacific trade, and to
hecome a Tendezvous for the shipping: but it seems T am mistaken, as the
Doctor thinks that a quadrangle of 70 yards will answer every purposc of
its erection. I am however of opinion that it should be made larger; as
whatever may be our present views, T am confident that the place from its
situation and aeccessibility, will eventually become a centre of operation,
gither to ourselves or to others who may be attracted thither, by the valu-
able timber and exhaustless fisheries of that inland sea. I would therefore
propose to make the stores roomy and substantial, and the Fort on a plan
of at least 300 feet square, 50 that when it is up we may not be put to the
expense and devangement of incessant changes and extensions.®¥

Leaving Nisqually in the Beaver on March 13, Douglas
arrived off Clover Point, Vancouver Island, about 4 p.m. on the
14th. He appears to have remained on board until the next
morning, from which point his activities are recorded in a small
pocket diary now in the Provincial Archives:—

Wednesday 15th March., Went out this morning with a beat and. examined
the wood of the north shore of the harhour; it is not good being generally
short, crooked and almost unservicable. On the south shore, the wood is
of a better quality and I think I will have no difficulty in getting enough for
gur purpose. Small wood for picketing [i.e., for the stockade] is scarce,
particularly cedar which answers better than any other kind for that pur-
pose from its lightness and greater durability under ground. We will
probably have to bring such ms we require from a distance.

. . . '

-1 am at a loss where to place the Fort, as there ave two positions pos-
sossing advantages of nearly equal imporiance, though of different kinds.

No. 1 has a good view of the harbour, iz upon clear pround, and only
B0 yds. from the beach, on the other hand vessels drawing 14 feet cannot
come within 130 feet of the shore, we will therefore either have to boat
cargo off and on at a great distruction of boats, and considerable loss of
time or be put to the expense of forming a jettie ot o grent amount of labour.

No. 2 on the other hand will allew of vessels lying with their sides
grazing the rocks, which form a natural wharf, whereon cargo may be
conveniently landed from the ships yard, ond in that respect would be
exceedingly advantageous but on the other hand, an intervening point inter-

{28} Douglas to Simpson, Private, March 10, 1843, (H.B.C. Archives,
D.6/8.)

2
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cepts the view so that the mouth of the Port cannot be seen from it, an

objection of much weight in the case of vessels entering and leaving Port, -

anpther disadvantage is that the shore is there covered by thick woods to
the brespdth of 200 yards so that we must either place the Fort at that
distance from the landing place, or clear away the thickets which would
detain us very much, in our building operations. I will think more on this
subject before determining the point. The weather rather cloudy, but dry,
and beautifully clear in the afternoon.

Thursday 16. The weather clear and warm. The gooseberry bushes grow-
ing in the woods beginning to bud.

Put § men to dig a well and G others to square building timber. Spoke
to the Samese [Songish] today and informed them of our intention of
building in this place which appeared to please them very much. and
they immediately offered their services in proeuring pickets for the establish-
ment, an offer which I gladly accepted and promised to pay them a Blanket
{(234) for every forty pickets of 22 feet by 36 inches which they bring.
I also lent them 3 larpe axes, 1 half sqre head Do, and 10 half round head
axes, to be returned hereafier, when they have finished the job.

§ Men squared 1% pee of 40 feet, & 1 pee of 32 feet today., 6 men
dipging the well, . . . -
FPyidey 17th, Clear warm weather. Trost last night, The b squares
[squarers?] finished lspes of 40 feet and 1 of 32 feet,

Bix men digging the well,

Saturdey 18th. Men employed ns yesterday. The well is now about 11
feat deep.2t

A parallel nayrative is in existence, which, althoogh it is not
concerned directly with the founding of Victoria, has an interest
of its own. Douglas was accompanied from Nisqually by a
Catholic missionary, Father J. 8. Z. Boldue, who has left this
deseription of his arrival at Camosun:—

[On the 14th March] we bore away for the southern point of Van-
couver's Island, whither we arrived aboui 4 o'clock in the afterncon. At
fivst, only two canoes were perceived; but, after a discharge of eannon, we
gaw mnatives issuing from their haunts and surrounding the steambont.
Next morning the pirogues (Indian boats) came from every side. I went
on shore with the commander of the expedition [Douglas] and the captain
of the vessel [McNeill]; having received unequivocal proofs of goed-will of

(29) Quoted from the criginal in the Provincial Archives, On the 17th

Douglas described in detail “a luminous streak in the heavens” which

* appeared that evening and was again visible, when darkness fell, on succeed-

ing days. Dr. W.N. Sage belicves this to have been the great comet of 1843

{¢ee Sir James Dougles and British Celuwmbia, Toronto, 1930, pp. 121-122) ;

but see alse James C. Agnew, " The Okanagan Are,” in Sixth Report of the
Olanagan Historical Soclety, 1935, pp. 119-121,
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the Indi'ans, T visited their village situated six miles from the port, at the

extremity of the bay. .

Like the surrounding tribes, this one possessed a little fortress, formed
by stakes enclosing about 150 sguare feet. .

My arrival being noised abroad, several neighboring nations eame hither
in erowds. Saturday, the 1Bth, wsas employed in constructing a kind of
repository, whereon to celebrate mass the ensuing morn. Mr. Douglas gave
me several of his men to aid the work. Branches of fir-trees formed the
sides of this rustie chapel; and the awning of the boat, its canepy. Early
Sunday morning, more than twelve hundred savages, belonging to the three
great tribes, Kawitskins [Cowichans], Klalams [Clallams], and Isanisks
[Sanetch], were assembled in this modest sanctuary. Our commander
negleeted nothing that could render the eeremony imposing; he gave me
liberty to choose-on hoard, ail that could serviee for its decoration, He
assisted at the mass with some Canadians, and two Catholie ladies.- It was
in the midst of this numerons assembly, that, Tor the first time, the sacred
mysteries were celebrated; may the blood of the Spotless Lamb, fertilize
this barven land, and cause it to produce an abundant harvest,30
The identity of the * two Catholic ladies ” has not been estab-
lished.

Father Bolduc remained at Camosun only until March 24,
when he left by cance. Douglas tarried somewhat longer, but
the exact length of his stay is not known., Nor is it certain that,
when he sailed on to Fort Taku and Fort MeLoughlin, men were
left behind to continue work on the new fort. It now seems
more likely that Douglas’s purpose on this first visit was merely
to decide upon the precise site for the new post, and become
familiar with local conditions, in order that work might proceed
without delay when he returned from the north with the men
from the two abandoned forts.® Be that as it may, Douglas and
the Beaver carried out their northern mission and arrived back
at Camosun on June 3. B8ix days later Douglas left for Fort
Vancouver, leaving Chief Trader Charles Ross, who had pre-
viously been stationed at Fort McLoughlin, in charge of the
construction of the new post. Roderick Finlayson was second

(30) Father P. J. De Smet; Oregon Missions and T'ravels over the Rocky
Mountaing in 1846—46, New York, 1847, pp. 66-68. Bolduoe's narrative is
dated Februnry 165, 1844, '

(31) We know from Ross's letter of January 10, 1844, that work on the
well was not resumed until Douglas returned. As we shall see, the supply
of fresh water was a matter of importance, and one wonld think that if any
nmen had remained at the fort site, they would have continued this work.
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ymmand; and Ross tells uys that the men numbered “ little
¢ of Torty hands.”
t is frequently asserted that Fort Victoria was originally
vn as Fort Camosumn, but no available contemporary docu-
t bears out the gtatemnent. The name Camosun, or Camosack,
variably applied to Victoria Harbour, or, occasionally, to the
hbourhood; mnever to the fort itself. The post was first
w1 locally as Fort Alpert: but when it was 50 named, or by
m, does not appear. On the other hand, the distinetion in
ificance between the names Camosun (which in this instance
pelled Camoswm) and Fort Alpert is shown clearly by an
-y in the log of the schooner Cadbore, under date August 6,
9. This reads:— )
. Made all possiblé sail . . - nnci run for Camosum . . - at 11.30
. arrived safe and Moor'd abreast of Fort sAlbert™ . .
ater entry, which refers to the © Harbour of * Camosum,’”
kes the distinction gtill more clear. The transeript of the log
the Cadboro in the Provincial Archives covers the period from
ly 1 to November 4, 1843. Throughout those months the
dboro was acting as 2 tender to the new post; references hoth
it and to Camosun are therefore numerous, and it is note-
yrthy that not one of them is inconsistent with the distinction
1de above.® :

_Officially the post was never known by any other name than
ywrt Victoria. william IV. having died in 1837, the original
tention of naming it Fort Adelaide, after his Queen, was
-opped, and it was christened instead in homour of the new
igning monarch. A resolution passed by the Council of the
[orthern Department at Fort Garry on June 10, 1843, is interest-
1g both in this connection, and because it shows the wisdom of
Jouglas's decision to build the post upon a generous scale:—

Resolved: That the new Establishment to be formed on the Straifs de

iea to be named Fort Victoria be erected on n scale sufficlently extensive
o answer the purposes of the Depot; the square of the Fort to be not less

B

{32} Rossto Simpson, January 10, 1844, See infri, foot-note 36.

(33) I am aware that this interpretation runs counter to the statement
ande hy Governor Charles A. Saleina letter dated April 7, 1927, which is
orinted in Sage, Si'r‘James Douglas and Beitigh Colwmbia, p. 123.
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than 150 vards; the bunildings to be substantial and erected as far apart as
the grounds may admit with a view to puarding against fire.3
The text of this resolution presumably reached McLoughlin by
the fall Express, which arrived at Tort Vancouver on November
17, 1843. In any event, the post is referred to as Fort Victoria
in a dispatch.to the Covernor and Committee written by Me-
Loughlin the next day. .

The most complete deseription of the original plan of Fort
Victoria at present available is contained in a private letter from
Douglas to Sir George Simpson, written in November, 1843, the
text of which the Hudson’s Bay Company has kindly released.
The passage reads i—

We arrived and began operations ot Vancouvers Island in the beginning

" of June, and after things were £airly started 1 returned by instructions to

this place, leaving Mr. Ross in charge. In planning the Tort, I had in view
the probability of its being converted into o Depot for the consting trade and

" sonsequently began on g respectable seanle, os to size. T is in form & quad-

rangle of 330 X 900 feet intended to contain B hulldings of 60 feet each,
disposed in the following order s&y 9 in the rear facing the harbour and 3
on ench side standing at right angles with the former leaving the front
entirely opem. The outhouses and worlishops, are to be thrown in the rear
of the main buildings and in the unoccupied angles, 80 a8 nobto disturb the
symmetry of the principal square. 3¢ much for the plan now for the prog-
ress made in carrying it out. On the 21st September when we last heord
from Ross the Pickets and defences wers finished, and two of the buildings
completed so far as to be habitable, and they were engaged in hauling out
the logs of 2 third building.

The climate of the place is plensant, and T believe perfectly heslthy. It
is rather a singular faet that no rain fell there between the 10th of June
and 8th Septr,, though we had heavy showers, both at this place [Fort Van-
couver] and Nisqually. The great and only inconvenience of the situation
is that which I mentioned in my survey report, 43 likely to be felt, until such
time as wells are dug, the searcity of fresh water in the months of August
and September. They were at times badly off for water last swmmer, and
had to cart it from 8 distance of 1% miles in consequence of the failure of
the stream which supplies the Fort. There is o numerous Indian population

" ahout the place, who have so for been guiet and civil, though they had many
opportunities of displuying an unfriendly disposition if they had been evil
disposed.

The summet returns from June to September anmount 0 300 Beaver and
Otter, with o few small furs, and probably the trade will increase, when the
Cape Flattery Indigns and the people inhabiting the west const of Van-
couvers Islond begin ta frequent the establishment, There has of course

(34) E. H. Oliver (ed.), The Canadian Narth-Wesat: Iig Fuarly Develop-
ment and Legislative Records, Ottaws, 1918, 1L, p. BOZ.
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;:en no time to ‘uttempt any thing in the way of farming, and the resources
the epuntry in fish, are only known as yet through the supply proecured

y trade from the Natives, which was abundant after the arrival of the

almon in July; other kinds of fish were not re i
: : J . ; gularly brought in; a proef
f their being, either, less sought after or not so easily caugg'ht.% PR P
. A §ec0nd letter from Charles Ross to Simpson, dated Fort
ictoria, January 10, 1844, gives a few additional details:—
)ur progress in regard to the Establishm i
ent is ns follows—a Quadrangl

£ 330 b){ 200 ft. surrounded with Stoccades, eighteen feet high—one uctangup:
1r Bastion 9f three stories erected—also, fwo men’s houses, and one Store
ach measuring 60 by 30 ft. with 17 ft. Posts & Pavilion roofs. These have
reer} thoroughls.r completed, and an Officers’ & main house of 60 by 40 it. are
apidly ‘advancmg to‘the same end, The farming is as yet little more than
n emb1y0—-———the‘re heing only about five acres under cultivation, and about
he same guantity prepared for the Plough,i6
"rade had cor.ltinued guiet, and Ross reported that he had “ g
et c«?llected little beyond 400 skins—PBeaver & Land Otter.”

Little more than five months after- this letter was written,
R0ss, whose health had frequently been a cause for anxiety, died
fler a brle.:f illness, and was succeeded as officer in charge by
Roderick Finlayson. ' -

3.

) At .this point, strictly speaking, the story of the founding of
Victoria should end:; but a few notes relating fo later events
ind to the ultimate fate of the fort buildings, may be of interestt

Tl?e year 1843, in which Fort Victoria was built, is known in
the history of Oregon as the year of the “ great immigration ”
gmd of Champoeg. The arrival of a thousand American citizens
in a single season, and the establishment of a provisional govern-
.ment, made it more than ever clear that the days of British
influence in the vailey of the Columbia were numbered. The
future of Fort Vancouver became increasingly uncertain, and
the Hudson’s Bay Company attached more and more impor’tance
to'Fort Vietoria. In the autumn of 1844 the Governor and Com-
mittee instructed Captain Mott, of the annual supply ship Van-
conver, to proceed divect to Fort Vietoria instead of to the
Columbia; and, although the formal transfer of the Company’s
o 5;35)) Douglas to Simpson, Private, November 16, 1843,  (H.B.C. Archives,

{36} Charles Rost to Sir George Simpson, January 10, 1844. (H.B.C.

Archives, D.5/10.} This letter is pri i i
. . printed complete elsewher 3
of th_e Quarterly; see ph, 113-117. IJ. e in this mumber

——,
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district headgquarters was delayed somewhat longer, this event
was unmistakable evidence that the position of primacy was
already passing from the Columbia to Vancouver Island.

One journal of the old fort has survived and is now in the
Archives of the Hudson's Bay Company. It covers the period
from May 9, 1846, to May 98, 1850;%7 and when the text beecomes
available it will throw a food of light upon the development of
the post during four eventful years. Meanwhile notes in the
possession of the writer, made from this journal many years
ago, reveal that Tort Victoria soon grew heyond the original
dimensions set by James Douglas. At least two buildings were
erected outside the walls, one of which was a powder magazine.
In 1847 the stockade was partly rebuilt and at the same time
extended to the north, in order that the whole gstablishment
might once more be enclosed. The work was completed on
Christmas Day, 1847. Such details as are available indicate
that the fort enclosure was enlarged to measure 300 by approxi-
mately 465 feet, or about half as big again as the original area.
A new bastion was constructed at the north-east corner, and
upon its completion the old bastion o the south-west was rebuilt
as well.

The stockade and bastions seem to have been kept in repair
as fortifications for a good many years; but the gerious need
for them passed quickly. Soon after Ross's death a-clash with
the natives occurred, but owing to Finlayson's courage and for-
bearance it only served to enhance the prestige of the fort. s
By 1850 hoth the Company and private individuals were erecting
buildings at considerable distances from the gtockade. In 1861
Fames Douglas himself completed a large residence on property
adjacent to what later became the site of the Parliament
Buildings. The following year Douglas’s son-in-law, Dr. J. S
Helmeken, built 4 more modest dwelling next door. The gold-
rush of 1858, which in a few months caused Viectoria to grow

into a town with a population of several thousands, completed
the transformation. The pickets and bastions that had been a
practical necessity only a few years before had hecome an
anachronism.

{37) H.B.C. Arvchives, B.226/a/1. .

(38) Tinlayson’s own account of the incident is printed in A, S. Morton,
A History of the Canadian West to 1570-71, London, n.d., pp. T81-32.
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- An agitation was soon afoot urging the removal of the fort,

and in particular of the north-eastern bastion, which stood on
Government Street, the main thoroughfare of the new town.
Popular feeling seems to have been well expressed in a letter
printed in the Victoria Gazette in December, 1858, that poured
scorn and ridicule upon the now superfluous fortification :—
Tt cannot be used to fire a salute without endangering the lives of pedestri-
ans, as well as smashing the windows in neighboring houses, as was the
case the last time & salute was fired off, and for which window-smashing a
bill has been presented ‘to the Government for payment—so remove the
coneern, 39 - :

But the bastion survived this blast and held its ground for
another two years. By that time the Hudson's Bay Company
had built a new brick store and warehouse on Wharf Street and
had decided to sell part, at least, of the old fort property. In
preparation for this sale a portion of the fort was demolished,
as recorded in the newspapers of the time:— :

The old picket fence [i.e., stockade] that has so long surrounded the fort
yard, is fast disappearing. Piere after piece it is taken down, sawed up,
and piled away for firewood. Yesterday afternoon workmen commenced
removing the old bastion at the corner of View and Government streets, and
before to-day’s sun gilds the western horizon, the wood comprising it will
no doubt have shared the ignoble fate of the unfortunate pickets, Alas!
poor bastion. Thy removal should be enough to brenk the heart of every
Hudson Bay man in the country.40

Late in1864 a second sale caused another orgy of destruction,
and the last remnants of the fort disappeared. Its passing was
thus chronicled in the press:—

Bit by bit all traces of the Hudson Bay Company’s old fort are being
obliterated. The work of demolition of the remaining fort buildings has
been going on gloriously during the last few days. Yesterday evening the
last of the number, an old log house, adjoining the Globe Hotel, Tormerly
used ag a kitchen, was brought to the ground.dt ‘

So passed old Fort Victoria, after a relatively brief life that
scarcely equalled in length the controversy that had preceded its
construction. )
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{30) Victoria Gazette, December 9, 18568,
(40) Victoria Colonist, December 15, 1860,
(41) 7Ibid., November 25, 1864.




